
West of England LEP Board
Board Meeting

Friday, 24 January 2020, 9.00 am
Not Open to the Public

Zoe Metcalfe Arup
Joanne Rumley Foot Anstey
Margot Day Buro Happold
Richard Bonner Arcadis
Natasha Swinscoe Academic Health Science Network
Heather Cooper Hargreaves Lansdown
Prof Steve West (Chair) West of England LEP
Katharine Finn (Vice-Chair) PwC
David Brown The Bristol Port Company
Prof Hugh Brady University of Bristol
Martino Burgess Gregg Latchams
Neil Douglas Viper Innovations
Christopher Grier Airbus
Dick Penny Consultant – creative sector
Jon Reynolds GDS Digital
Mohammed Saddiq Wessex Water
Mayor Marvin Rees Bristol City Council
Cllr Toby Savage South Gloucestershire
Mayor Tim Bowles West of England Combined Authority
Cllr Dine Romero Bath and North East Somerset
Cllr Donald Davies North Somerset Council

AGENDA

Subject Presenting Pages

1.  Welcome and apologies
Welcome to those present and to receive any apologies 
received. 

2.  Minutes of the meeting held on 1 October 2019
To approve minutes from the previous meeting.

3 - 8

3.  Declarations of Interest
All Board members have a responsibility to treat all 
proposals/projects equally and impartially and must therefore 
declare whether they or their organisation has either a direct 
or indirect interest in any of the projects to be considered by 
the Board

DISCUSSION ITEMS 

4.  Western Gateway
Verbal update on progress – Katherine Bennett Independent Chair, 

Katherine 
Bennett

Public Document Pack



Western Gateway to attend meeting

(45 minutes)

5.  Be The Business
30 minutes workshop and discussion session.

Emma Cooper and Louise Sunderland to attend from Be The 
Business.

Emma Cooper 
& Louise 
Sutherland

6.  Update on Climate Emergency Planning
The LEP Board is asked to note and comment on the update 
on climate emergency planning in advance of the 31 January 
meetings of the WECA Committee and West of England Joint 
Committee.  The Board is also invited to consider its role in 
this work going forward.

Helen 
Edelstyn

9 - 18

7.  Local Growth Fund Progress Update
To report on progress with the delivery of the Local Growth 
Fund programme and the current position regarding spend 
within the required timeframe.

Pete Davis 19 - 26

8.  Any Other Business
 Freeport

9.  Upcoming Meetings
LEP AGM: Wednesday 4 March 2020
Date of next LEP Board: Friday 13 March 2020 (PM)



West of England LEP Board 

Tuesday, 1 October 2019, 10am
Not Open to the Public 
Meeting Held at 3 Rivergate, Bristol BS1 6EW

Present:
Prof Steve West, West of England LEP (Chair)
Katharine Finn, PwC
Richard Bonner, Arcadis
David Brown, The Bristol Port Company
Martino Burgess, Bevan Brittan
Heather Cooper, Hargreaves Lansdown
Margot Day, Buro Happold
Neil Douglas, Viper Innovations
Christopher Grier, Airbus

Zoe Metcalfe, Arup
Dick Penny, Consultant - Creative Sector
Jon Reynolds, GDS Digital
Joanne Rumley, Foot Anstey
Natasha Swinscoe, Academic Health Science 
Network
Mayor Marvin Rees, Bristol City Council
Cllr Dine Romero, Bath and North East Somerset
Cllr Donald Davies, North Somerset Council

Officers In Attendance:
Patricia Greer, Chief Executive
Jess Lee, Head of Policy & Strategy

Malcolm Coe, Director of Infrastructure and 
Investment

Apologies:
Prof Hugh Brady, University of Bristol
Mohammed Saddiq, Wessex Water

Cllr Toby Savage, South Gloucestershire
Mayor Tim Bowles, West of England Combined 
Authority

Minutes

Action
1  Welcome and apologies 

The Chair welcomed everybody to the meeting and especially welcomed the new 
members of the Board.

Apologies for absence had been received from Professor Hugh Brady, 
Mohammed Saddiq, Mayor Bowles and Councillor Toby Savage.

A number of new members were present at the meeting– Zoe Metcalfe (Arup), 
Joanne Rumley (Foot Anstey), Natasha Swinscoe (Academic Health Science 
Network), Heather Cooper (Hargreaves Lansdown), Margot Day (Buro Happold) 
and Richard Bonner (Arcadis)

2  Minutes of the meeting held 11 July 2019 

The minutes of the meeting held on 11 July 2019 were agreed as a correct record 
and signed by the Chair.

It was noted that the action on the implementation plan of the Local Industrial 
Strategy would be discussed under agenda item 4.

WECA was continuing to work with Bristol City Council on the Energy Strategy 
Action Plan. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



3  Declarations of Interest 

Declarations of interest was raised as follows:

Dick Penny and Martino Burgess reported that their employment status had now 
changed and they would therefore be required to complete another Declaration of 
Interests form.

New members were reminded that they needed to complete Declaration of 
Interest forms also.
Items for discussion 

4  Local Industrial Strategy - Implementation 

The LEP Board received an update on the Local Industrial Strategy which had an 
accompanying presentation and included discussion on the following specific 
items:

 Global Centre of Innovation Excellence (Inc DETI);
 West of England Network of Living Labs;
 Productivity challenge;
 Employment and skills implementation plan;
 Skills Advisory Panel proposal.

Jess Lee, Head of Strategy and Policy, was leading development of the Local 
Industrial Strategy and asked that any members of the LEP Board who wished to 
assist on any of the major themes contact Melissa Houston directly.

The clean growth theme cut across all the other themes and underpinned the 
strategy, and this would be clear in the language used, with all local authorities 
having declared climate emergencies.  The Strategy did however need to reflect 
the message the LEP Board wished to send to Government. 

Neil Bradshaw and Stephen Hilton attended the meeting and spoke about the 
Global Centre for Innovation Excellence and the West of England Network of 
Living Labs.

The Global Centre for Innovation Excellence would work with a wide range of 
partners to attract increased investment in research and development regionally, 
helping to meet the national ambition of investing 2.4 per cent of GDP in 
Research and Development by 2027.  A stakeholder working group had been 
established which would debate the core purpose and the vision, how success 
would be measured, etc.   The next steps would be to hold a stakeholders group 
meeting in October 2019 and publication of a Strategic Business Case in 
December 2019.

Another element of the Global Centre of Innovation Excellence was the Digital 
Engineering Technology Institute (DETI) which recognised that advanced 
engineering was one of the leading industries in the region.

DETI brought together industry partners (e.g. Airbus, Rolls-Royce, Babcock, 
McLaren), innovative digital tech. companies, world leading assets (e.g. NCC, 
CFMS), the region’s universities with strengths in advanced digital technologies 
and engineering (e.g. data science, quantum), and skills with Further Education 
Colleges (e.g. Weston College/IoT). 

Page 4



DETI would deliver the following:

Digital Design – future design tools & approaches across multiple engineering 
sectors;
Digital Manufacturing– strengthen asset base to demonstrate capability;
Skills & Workforce- inclusive, diverse, globally competitive, digitally enabled
Long-term clean growth;

The next steps were as follows:

 Technical Working Groups developing work programmes
 Regional and national stakeholder comms & engagement to 

continue
 Strength in Places Fund EoI resubmission to UKRI - Oct
 Proposals in development for national programmes 

- E.g. DCMS 5G Manufacturing Testbed & Industry led 
proposals to ATI etc.

A full business case would be developed in November 2019.
 
Stephen Hilton reported on the progress of the Living Labs project, which was 
defined as follows:

““to deliver a locally-led network of Living Labs. Overseen by the [new] Global 
Centre of Innovation Excellence (GCIE), this programme will aim to test, develop, 
and prepare for market, new products and services.”

During November 2019 it was planned to map current Living Lab type activity in 
the region, nationally and internationally to identify best practice in the delivery of 
Living Lab projects and the coordination of Living Lab networks.  By April 2020 the 
plan was to launch the initial “V1” Living Lab network.

Stephen Bashford introduced Emma Cooper who spoke to members about “Be 
The Business”, which launched in 2017.  Be The Business helps the UK to 
improve its productivity and competitiveness.  Emma Cooper stated that the UK, 
for a number of reasons, had fallen from sixth to eighth in the global 
competitiveness index and this decline could continue.  Economic growth had 
slowed in the West of England.  

Be The Business was successfully engaging communities in the South West and 
there were a number ways for local employers to get involved, including joining a 
summit being held on 15 October 2019.  Business could help work with local 
outcomes, ecosystems by offering high level support and providing behavioural 
insights through expertise, resources and offering programmes.  Stephen 
Bashford asked for any ideas about how LEP Board members could be involved 
be sent to him directly. One of the flagship programmes, Mentoring for Growth, 
matched SME leaders with experienced business mentors from leading 
organisations, to help smaller businesses through expansion and 
improvement challenges

In terms of the Mentoring for Growth Programme, a full time advisor was in place 
covering the WofE, fully funded through BtB and managed by the Growth 
Company (with no cost to WECA or the Growth Hub). 

The advisor would be fully responsible for attracting mentees to the programme.

Page 5



Be the Business was keen for the region to help support the introductions to 
potential new partners due to the region’s collaborative way of working and the 
existing relationships in the WoE. The LEP Board would be formally invited to join 
this programme via their individual business organisations in due course. 

Stephen Bashford spoke to the meeting about the Employment and Skills Plan 
and the progress made thereon.  There were a number of projects ongoing 
including Future Bright, the Adult Education Budget, Talent Institutes and 
Workforce for the Future.  

Another paper was around the Skills Advisory Board, a multi-sector group which 
would oversee the implementation of the Employment and Skills element of the 
Local Industrial Strategy.  This would be Chaired by a LEP Board representative.   
It was noted that Chris Grier had agreed to be the Chair.

The following points were raised:

 The LEP Board needed to establish its role as either a driver or recipient, 
while acknowledging that it needed to be selective;

 Women and BAME groups needed to be equipped to occupy high ranking 
positions in companies;

 There were not enough people currently in the NHS with digital skills;
 It was noted that schools and school age education was not part of 

WECA’s or LEP’s remit, although the issue could be work with businesses, 
maybe through the careers hub about how that progression could happen;

 It was noted also that Patricia Greer had just joined the South West 
Leaders group and could raise issues through that forum;

 It was important to have a body that could speak directly to the DfT.  There 
was also a challenge for more creative thinking in young people rather 
than a focus purely on passing exams;

 It was noted that the ongoing work would be constantly reported into LEP 
Board but if members were keen to be involved in a particular area then 
they were asked to contact Melissa Houston directly;

Agreed: 

1. That the views on the emerging Local Industrial Strategy implementation 
plan and the ongoing role of the LEP Board in supporting delivery;

2. That the progress reports on Productivity Challenge and Employment & 
Skills be noted;

3. That agreement be given to the proposals for the Skills Advisory Panel as 
set out in Appendix Two to this report;

5  Local Growth Funds 

Malcolm Coe addressed the meeting on Local Growth Funding and the quarterly 
returns.  He stated that a number of projects had been taken out or moved but the 
fund was overprogrammed by around £11m.  Around £118m out of £202m had 
been spent.

Page 6



The Quarter 1 19/20 dashboard, which was shown in Appendix 1, was signed off 
by the LEP Chair and Chief Executive and submitted to CLoG in September 2019.

There remained a requirement from Government that all LGF funds were spent by 
March 2021. Only 5 schemes remained to be fully approved.

The following points were raised:

 Each project needed to be deliverable and by a certain date otherwise it 
should be removed and new projects brought in.  A narrative sentence of 
explanation for each project was needed;

 Specifically, the Bath College Innovation Centre was only funded to the 
planning stage;

 The Authority was awaiting to see what would replace the LGF with the 
separating out of the European Funding.  It was likely that some funding 
would be available beyond 2021 but confirmation was awaited.

Agreed: That the Quarter 1 19/20 LGF dashboard, the forecast spend position 
and risks be noted.

6  Any Other Business 

The following items were raised:

 Cultural Strategy – Dick Penny gave an update as Chair of the 
Engagement Board which had representatives from all four local 
authorities.  The evidence had been published on the website but had 
been paused until the LIS activated the second phase.  A consultant had 
been engaged for this purpose and a update would be given to the 
November 2019 meeting.  It was also noted that Arts Council England 
would pilot a compact as a development vehicle;

 LEP Network – Steve West reported that the network was deciding 
whether it had a purpose, as it was felt the governance arrangements did 
not work in the LEP Board’s favour.  The Network also wanted to adopt an 
advisor/regulatory role.  The best solution would be to work in 
collaboration rather than the Network speaking on the LEP’s behalf;

 Western Power House – Steve West stated that the Local Industrial 
Strategy would be the primary vehicle for the LEP and needed to be 
managed through LEP.  He did not feel that activities could be coordinated 
in a business way through a Western Power House without duplicating 
some activities and would report back to Wales in those terms.  Cllr 
Romero stated that she would report this back to the new B&NES Chief 
Executive.

Friday, 29 November 2019, 2.00 pm, Not Open to the Public

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

1 
 

Agenda Item 6 
West of England Local Enterprise Partnership 
Board meeting – 24 JANUARY 2020 
 
UPDATE ON CLIMATE EMERGENCY PLANNING  

 
Purpose of the report 
 
In July 2019, WECA committee declared a climate emergency, committing the West of 
England to carbon neutrality by 2030. As part of the emergency declaration, we are required 
to report back to committee every six months on progress.  

This is the first of these update reports and provides a high-level review of climate 
emergency data, identifies some of the complexities around addressing the climate 
emergency and progress with the Climate Emergency Action Plan. 

LEP Board is asked to 

 
• Note and comment on the update report on climate emergency planning in advance 

of the 31 January meetings of the WECA Committee and West of England Joint 
Committee. 

• Recognising that addressing the climate change emergency will require action from a 
wide range of partners across the region, consider the role the LEP Board can play in 
focusing and coordinating that activity. In particular considering: 

o actions Board members organisations are able to take;  
o the Board’s role in stimulating, and providing a focus for activity both between 

Board members organisations and with the wider business community; 
o the Board’s role in identifying and championing best practice examples and 

low carbon innovation; 
o the role the Board wants to take in the development of the Climate 

Emergency Action Plan including whether the Board wishes to establish a 
climate emergency sub-group to take forward work in this area.  

 
Background  
 
Context  

Climate change poses a clear and serious threat, affecting our future environment and 
prosperity of our region. The IPCC’s recommendations are clear – limiting global warming to 
1.5 degrees (rather than 2 degrees) between now and 2052 will significantly reduce the 
effects of global warming. 

Government has recognised this, and the UK is the first country to commit to becoming net 
carbon zero by 2050. WECA has gone further than this, committing to carbon neutrality by 
2030. This is in line with our partner Unitary Authorities.  

To achieve this goal, we will need to significantly reduce carbon emissions in the region. 
This will require changes in the way that we act and make decisions. However, WECA 

Page 9

Agenda Item 6



 
 

2 
 

recognise that simply reducing emissions will not be enough. The scope of our action will 
need to be broader. We will need to consider how to adapt to the impact of climate change, 
recognising the impact it has had on the environment. We will also need to work closely with 
our businesses to foster innovation and grow the skills of our region to reduce emissions and 
take advantage of the economic benefits available within the pathway to carbon neutrality.  

The way to achieve this goal is complex and will require action by national government, 
unitary authorities, individuals, business and international government.   

Evidence – Baseline and Priority Areas  

Baseline Emissions  

The West of England emitted 5,230kt CO2 in 2017, this is a reduction of 23.6% per head 
from 2012, compared with 25.2% per head across England.1CO2 makes up 81% of Green 
House Gases that are either emitted directly (e.g. through burning of fuels directly) or 
indirectly (e.g. from electricity purchased and used by the consumer or 
businesses).  These are also known as production emissions, measuring the emissions of 
goods and services produced within the region.  
 
An alternative approach is to estimate the emissions impact of all goods and services 
consumed by residents of the West of England (‘consumption emissions’). This equates to 
production emissions, plus the emissions of imported products, and less the emissions of 
exported products. Consumption emissions are harder to calculate because the emissions 
associated with foreign products are difficult to measure. Based on the UK average, 
consumption emissions for the West of England could reach 10,500kt CO2, 1.9 times 
production emissions2. (Note there is significant double counting between these two 
measures).  

The difference is significant: UK production emissions have been falling since 1973, whereas 
consumption emissions peaked in 20073. This reflects the deindustrialisation of the 
economy, as consumers have become more reliant on imported manufactured products. 
Purchases by the region’s residents are responsible for emissions elsewhere in the world. 
Since 2007 consumption emissions have fallen by 20%. 
 

Sources of Emissions  

Excluding motorways, rail, and large industry, 33% of the region’s emissions came from 
business, 35% from households and 32% from transport.4 Most emissions from both 
businesses and households are generated by heating.   

                                                            
1 End-use carbon dioxide (CO2) emissions at local authority level, kilotonnes, 2017. BEIS, UK Local 
CO2 emissions, June 2019; WECA calculations 
2 University of Leeds and DEFRA, UK Consumption Emissions https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uks-
carbon-footprint and WECA calculations 
3 ONS, The decoupling of economic growth from carbon emissions 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/nationalaccounts/uksectoraccounts/compendium/economicreview/octobe
r2019/thedecouplingofeconomicgrowthfromcarbonemissionsukevidence 
4Motorways, rail, and large industry were responsible for 959 kt of CO2 in 2017, 18% of full emissions. In this 
case we have used the data subset which excludes large industrial plants (i.e. those included by the EU 
Emissions Trading Scheme) and rail and motorway transport. This also excludes emissions from aviation and 

Page 10

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uks-carbon-footprint
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uks-carbon-footprint
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uks-carbon-footprint
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uks-carbon-footprint
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/nationalaccounts/uksectoraccounts/compendium/economicreview/october2019/thedecouplingofeconomicgrowthfromcarbonemissionsukevidence
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/nationalaccounts/uksectoraccounts/compendium/economicreview/october2019/thedecouplingofeconomicgrowthfromcarbonemissionsukevidence
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/nationalaccounts/uksectoraccounts/compendium/economicreview/october2019/thedecouplingofeconomicgrowthfromcarbonemissionsukevidence
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/nationalaccounts/uksectoraccounts/compendium/economicreview/october2019/thedecouplingofeconomicgrowthfromcarbonemissionsukevidence


 
 

3 
 

Energy Generation  

The majority of the region’s energy comes from fossil fuels, including gas and petroleum. 
According to BEIS statistics, in 2017, 91% of energy used in the West of England was from 
fossil fuelled sources (including those used to generate electricity). 33% of grid electricity 
comes from renewable sources, but the region makes a limited contribution to that.5 
Renewable energy generation within the region has increased rapidly (mainly solar), but still 
only represents 9% of our electricity consumption, and most of the electricity used in the 
region is generated outside it.6 If we want to achieve carbon neutrality, we cannot continue 
to rely on fossil fuels. 

Priority Areas 

Reducing the emissions from transport, heating and the generation of electricity will form the 
priority areas of action for the region. As an indication of the scale of the task, 883 renewable 
heat schemes have been completed in the region under the government Renewable Heat 
Incentive since 2014, out of the region’s 494,880 dwellings.7 4,595 electric vehicles are 
licenced in the region, against 785,000 vehicles in total.8 

Clean and Inclusive Growth  
 
To meet the carbon neutrality ambitions, we will also need to support the innovative 
businesses based in the region, and those others that we can attract here, to go further and 
faster to develop the technologies to help tackle climate change on a global scale. 

Whilst the way forward to achieve this is unclear, the strong history of engineering and 
innovation within the West of England means that the region is well placed to be at the 
forefront of innovative research and development to help reduce emissions, including:  

• providing a base for global energy consultancies such as DNV - GL, Everoze, and 
Lloyd’s Register who provide renewable energy services (particularly wind, wave, 
tidal and solar), and employ over 300 staff in Bristol.   

• Aura Power, based in Bristol, is leading the development of large-scale renewable 
energy projects (particularly solar) creating a competitive edge over fossil fuel 
generation.    

• Many of the region’s law firms, planning and engineering consultancies have a strong 
renewable energy expertise. Examples include Renew Legal, TLT Solicitors and 
ESOS Energy.   

                                                            
ports as these counted as part of international emissions. This is designed to reflect those emissions over which 
local authorities and regions may be expected to exert some direct influence. 
5 Renewable energy is energy derived from a source that is not depleted when used e.g. wind, solar, hydro 
and biomass.  Renewable energy generation at local authority level, BEIS, Regional renewable statistics, 
September 2019 (link); BEIS, Sub-national total final energy consumption statistics, September 2019 (link); 
WECA calculations. 
6 National proportion – 33% in 2018 – BEIS, Digest of UK Energy Statistics chapter 6 
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/renewable-sources-of-energy-chapter-6-digest-of-united-kingdom-
energy-statistics-dukes 
7 BEIS Renewable Heat Incentive monthly deployment statistics, October 2019  
8 DfT, Licensed Vehicle statistics, September 2019 

Page 11

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/regional-renewable-statistics
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/total-final-energy-consumption-at-regional-and-local-authority-level
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/renewable-sources-of-energy-chapter-6-digest-of-united-kingdom-energy-statistics-dukes
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/renewable-sources-of-energy-chapter-6-digest-of-united-kingdom-energy-statistics-dukes


 
 

4 
 

• Triodos Bank, one of the most sustainable banks in the world, has its UK 
headquarters in Bristol.  

  
We also have some leading global players in high value design, such as Airbus, which is 
designing the next generation of aeroplane wings, making them more fuel efficient.   
 
Taking action on climate change should also have substantial economic benefits for the 
region. Growth in carbon efficiency amongst businesses and within the green economy can 
help to increase productivity and help to create good jobs as well as protecting the climate 
and environment. According to a recent BEIS survey, 65% of all 18-24-year olds are 
interested in working in the green economy.9 The government estimates that the green 
economy will create two million jobs between now and 2030, with analysis from the 
Committee of Climate Change estimating that low carbon markets will grow significantly in 
the near future: 

 Low carbon electricity products and services – 5-7% growth per year to 2030 
 Low emission vehicles products and services – 25-30% per year to 2030 
 Low carbon financial services – 10%+ per year to 203010 

 
If we are to successfully deliver the actions required to meet the region’s carbon target, we 
will need significant growth in the supply chain for a range of green services, including 
building insulation and renewable heating. There is an opportunity to ensure that the benefits 
of this growth are captured within the region. This should help to good job opportunities 
within both high and low skilled sectors, ensuring that economic growth benefits generated 
by the low carbon sector can be inclusive and benefit all our residents.  
 
If the West of England wants to take advantage of these opportunities, we will need to start 
considering now the action we need to take to tackle climate change, ensure our businesses 
are resilient to its effects and start to build the skills and supply chains required within these 
new and emerging sectors.  
 
Promoting inclusive economic growth is not the only co-benefit of reducing carbon and 
tackling climate change. It can also help support the most deprived communities within the 
region to live better, healthier lives.  
 
Action to decarbonise the region and improve the energy efficiency of our homes and 
buildings can also help to address the issue of cold homes and poor air pollution.  
Particulate matter and nitrous oxides contribute to around 40,000 air pollution related deaths 
per year in the UK. The cost of cold homes to the NHS is estimated at £2.5billion per year.11  
Taking action to reduce the emissions from transport and improve the way we heat our 
homes will help to address and minimise these issues.  
 

                                                            
9 Ashden, Climate Action Co-Benefits Toolkit – Chapter 3 Economic Opportunity and Job Creation, 
https://www.ashden.org/programmes/co-benefits  
10 Committee on Climate Change, Net Zero: the UK’s contribution to stopping global warming, May 2019, p. 
236 
11 Ashden, Climate Action Co-Benefits Toolkit – Chapter 1 Health and Wellbeing, 
https://www.ashden.org/programmes/co-benefits 

Page 12

https://www.ashden.org/programmes/co-benefits
https://www.ashden.org/programmes/co-benefits
https://www.ashden.org/programmes/co-benefits


 
 

5 
 

In addition, energy efficiency measures offer the potential to reduce energy bills, which 
amounted to £1.7bn in 2018. The Committee on Climate Change estimates that energy 
efficiency improvements could reduce household bills by £150 per year by 2030.12 
 
To ensure that ensure that we are fulfilling the ambition within the Local Industrial Strategy to 
promote clean and inclusive growth across the region, we need to start tackling climate 
change throughout all of our work.   
 
 
Reducing Carbon – the challenge ahead 

The carbon reduction target for the West of England is to achieve carbon neutrality by 2030. 

The West of England has achieved a lot in terms of reducing emissions and fostering 
innovation to support new, cleaner innovations. Since 2005 emissions in the region have 
steadily fallen. However, this is largely due to national measures such as progressive 
decarbonisation of the national grid. 

Research has shown that if we want the best chance of limiting climate change to 1.5 
degrees, the maximum amount of carbon that can be put into the atmosphere is 420 billion 
tonnes globally. Across the world, 42 billion tonnes per year are currently emitted. So, if 
emissions were to stay at this level, the global carbon budget would be exhausted at the 
beginning of 2028.13 

Extending these targets to the UK, provides a carbon budget of around 2.5 billion tonnes. On 
a production basis, UK carbon emissions in 2018 were 364 million tonnes.14 If emissions 
continue at this level, the UK’s budget would be exhausted by 2025. To stay within budget, 
we need to reduce emissions by 15% per year. Production-based emissions have only been 
falling at a rate of around 4% per year. 

Measured on a consumption basis, UK emissions are about 60% higher. To stay within this 
budget on this basis we’d need to cut emissions by 24% per year. Emissions on a 
consumption basis have been falling by only 1.5% per year.  

Analysis of historic emissions and suggested pathways to carbon neutrality, shows that 
continuing business as usual will not achieve the 2030 target. If we do not act now, we will 
need to take more drastic action in the future, requiring expensive carbon capture and 
storage in order to meet our target.  

 
Possible pathways to reducing carbon  

Whilst there are other causes, energy usage and generation form a significant majority of 
carbon emissions. As such, we can use them as a proxy for understanding what actions the 
region may need to take in order to reduce our emissions and meet the carbon neutrality 
ambitions. 

                                                            
12 Committee on Climate Change, Net Zero the UK’s contribution to stopping global warming, May 2019, p. 246  
13 https://www.cityscience.com/blogs/events/if-we-were-serious  
14 BEIS, Provisional UK greenhouse gas emissions national statistics 2018 

Page 13

https://www.cityscience.com/blogs/events/if-we-were-serious
https://www.cityscience.com/blogs/events/if-we-were-serious


 
 

6 
 

The National Grid Future Energy Scenarios15 outline different credible pathways for the 
future of energy usage across all sectors including domestic consumption, transport, energy 
generation and industrial use for the next 30 years. They consider how much energy we 
might need and where it could come from, including looking at what the changes might mean 
for industry and consumers.  

The Future Energy Scenarios are based on projections to 2050 in line with the national 
target, but the actions they produce show what will need to be achieved to reach carbon 
neutrality against any timeline. Based in these scenarios, in order to achieve carbon 
neutrality, it is likely that we will need to: 

• Transport – decarbonise the transport system including ensuring that most forms of 
transport are electric vehicles or ultra-low emissions vehicles and that there has been 
a significant modal shift towards walking and cycling  

• Heating – stop building homes and buildings that will need to be retrofitted in the 
future. Start building zero carbon homes with high levels of heating efficiency and 
embark on a wide-scale retrofitting programme for existing buildings and homes.    

• Energy – reduce energy consumption to lowest possible demand, fostering 
innovative new business practices and ensure that there are high levels of 
sustainable energy generation including solar, onshore and offshore wind  

These scenarios and pathways are not set in stone, they are subject to annual review as 
new data, science and technology emerges to help reduce emissions.  
 
Action already taken to address the Climate Emergency: 

WECA has already taken some action to help address the climate emergency, including: 

• Setting a regional strategic objective for clean and inclusive growth within the Local 
Industrial Strategy 

• Working to tackle congestion and improve public transport options, encouraging 
people to leave their cars at home – we have made significant investment in rail, 
buses and walking and cycling. 

• Launched a new £4.2m West of England Low Carbon Challenge Fund to support 
micro, small and medium-sized business to adopt energy efficiency measures, along 
with community energy schemes and retrofit energy efficiency measures for homes. 

• Helped fund the National Composites Centre in South Gloucestershire, which is 
developing lightweight materials that are stronger and have the potential to reduce 
weight and increase carbon efficiency and is already making a difference in 
aerospace, automotive and construction and so much more. 

• Hosting the South West Energy Hub which supports projects ranging from energy 
efficiency retrofit for homes, business and the public sector, to renewable or low 
carbon electricity and heat generation. 

• Provided a multi-million-pound investment in the Institute of Advanced Automotive 
Propulsion Systems at the Bristol & Bath Science Park, a global centre of excellence, 
delivering transformational research and innovation in low-emission vehicles to 
improve the air we breathe 

                                                            
15 National Grid Future Energy Scenarios, July 2019 - http://fes.nationalgrid.com/media/1409/fes-2019.pdf 

Page 14

http://fes.nationalgrid.com/media/1409/fes-2019.pdf


 
 

7 
 

• Supported the delivery of a West of England Green Infrastructure Strategy and 
promoting the role of the natural environment in climate adaptation 

What are we going to do next? 

Achieving carbon neutrality will require a whole system approach – requiring change from 
national government, the UAs, residents and businesses. WECA can play a key role in 
convening and influencing within this area and in the decisions,  we make in terms of 
procurement, capital spends, and policy setting (incl. spatial, transport, skills). However, 
WECA does not have the power or resources to deliver this ambition on our own. We will 
need to work in partnership to achieve the ambitions of the emergency declaration (see 
appendix one for further explanation).   

Work is underway to prepare a regional Climate Emergency Action Plan. This Plan will set 
out our next steps to delivering the CE ambition for decarbonisation and several high-level 
principles. These principles will provide clear regional direction but will allow flexibility in 
terms of delivery. The CE Action Plan will also provide a basis for strategic discussions with 
Government on funding, regulation and delivery. This approach respects that regional and 
local actors will have different ambitions and approaches, whilst creating a space to find 
innovative solutions together.   

The CE Action Plan will have a broad scope, taking both adaptation and mitigation into 
account.  Reducing our emissions by acting on the causes of climate change (e.g. 
decarbonising transport, building zero carbon homes and increasing the sources of clean 
energy) is more commonly known as mitigation. However, addressing the emissions that 
cause climate change will not be enough.  

The CE Action Plan will also need to consider how we can adapt and act to manage the 
risks of climate change impact. This will include how we manage and use our natural habitat 
and environment. 

To ensure we take a robust evidence-based approach we are proposing to spend some of 
the resource allocated to the climate emergency to pull together a regional integrated 
evidence base. This will build on the work already done by Unitary Authorities.  

Developing the Climate Emergency Action Plan 

Over the coming months, WECA officers will work in liaison with the Unitary Authorities to 
develop a Climate Emergency Action Plan. The Unitary Authorities are at differing stages of 
responding to their own climate emergency declarations:  

• Bristol – published an action plan in September 2019, currently in the process of 
developing a gap-analysis evidence base to help prioritise action and a climate 
change strategy (due in March 2020)  

• B&NES – published their first report and evidence base in October 2019, they have 
committed to including climate change considerations within all their decisions and 
are refreshing their Climate Change Strategy  

• South Gloucestershire – due to publish first report to committee and evidence base 
highlighting priority areas for action in January/February 2020 

• North Somerset – published an action plan and evidence base is in development  
 

Page 15



 
 

8 
 

Whilst the exact pathway to carbon neutrality cannot be fully known at this time, this does 
not mean we should not act towards carbon neutrality using our existing levers of power and 
influence. The Climate Emergency Action Plan will begin to consider how this can be 
achieved, following the below basic principles and investigating the feasibility of the 
suggested actions within each principle: 

• Fostering Clean Growth & Innovation e.g: 
o Use AEB Commissioning powers, careers hubs and skills teams to increase 

the number of people with green skills (e.g. home retrofitting, clean tech, 
green finance, renewable energy) within the region to facilitate the transition 
to zero carbon  

o Strengthen enterprise support and innovation provision to help businesses 
understand their carbon footprints; implement mitigation activities and zero-
carbon innovation; and develop the region’s low carbon supply chain.  

• Accelerating the shift to low carbon transport   Using our planning transport 
levers (Interim JLTP4, Bus Strategy, LCWIP) to: 

o Fewer car journeys e.g. investment in transport hubs to allow easy and 
efficient interchange between modes 

o Work towards decarbonising the public transport system  
o facilitate a modal shift towards walking and cycling.  

• Improving our buildings & placemaking - Integrating climate resilience into new 
development including exploring the potential for a zero carbon homes standard, 
considering solution for renewable energy supply and integrating good quality design 
that incorporates GI within new development and working with UAs to increase the 
opportunities for retrofit    

• Enabling clean smart affordable energy - Upscale the Low Carbon Challenge 
Fund including the Rural Community Energy Fund to encourage more renewable 
energy within the region 

• Protecting, preserving & enhancing the environment - Publishing and continuing 
to support the WOE Joint Green Infrastructure Strategy that will evidence the multi-
benefits of GI, including climate change adaptation, across the West of England, 
exploring opportunities to deliver GI within new and existing projects, plans and 
programmes. 

• Leading the way as a public sector organisation - Provide political leadership in 
lobbying government for additional funding & legislative powers for: 

o Widescale homes & buildings retrofit – spatial planning can move new builds 
towards zero carbon but does not address existing homes 

o Changes to National Grid to improve grid capacity and improve its ability to 
incorporate renewable energy that is locally generated  

o New planning powers and funding to increase the amount of renewable 
energy 

   

Governance 

WECA will champion the Climate Emergency throughout its governance and decision-
making structures. Mayor Tim Bowles will continue to provide political leadership, alongside 
Unitary Authority Mayors and Leaders, of the Climate Emergency – championing the issue 
and helping WECA to make the right decisions to deliver the ambition. 

WECA committee has been asked to consider governance options to support this, including:  

Page 16



 
 

9 
 

 
• The option of adding a requirement to the terms of reference of the ‘Regional Capital 

Board’ to provide guidance and oversight of the delivery of climate emergency action 
plans (subject to committee approval of this) 

• The option of adding a requirement to the terms of reference of all governance 
boards to consider the impact of all decisions and advice on the climate emergency 
(subject to committee approval of this 

 

Author: Helen Edelstyn, Senior Policy Manager   
 

 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Agenda Item 7
West of England Local Enterprise Partnership
Board meeting – 24 January 2020

Local Growth Fund Progress Update

Purpose of the report

1. To report on progress with the delivery of the Local Growth Fund programme and the 
current position regarding spend within the required timeframe.
 

Recommendation

To seek views on the LGF programme, the forecast spend position and risks. 

Background 

2. There remains a requirement from Government that all LGF funds are spent by March 
2021. The Quarter 1 19/20 dashboard submitted to the Cities and Local Growth Unit was 
reported to the LEP Board meeting in October, together with a review of the LGF 
programme and schemes which it is considered present a risk of full LGF spend by March 
2021. At the Board meeting members requested that a further report be brought to this 
meeting including further narrative for the identified schemes. 

3. As there was no LEP Board meeting at that time, the Quarter 2 19/20 dashboard was 
submitted in November with sign off by the LEP Board Chair and Chief Executive in line 
with the approach agreed for urgency by the LEP Board in January 2019. The submitted 
dashboard is shown in Appendix 3. 

Current Dashboard

4. As would be expected given the end date, the LGF programme is now in a mature state 
and only 5 schemes remain to be fully approved, as illustrated in Appendix 1 which shows 
the current planned spend profile of all schemes yet to complete. Recent steps have 
derisked LGF spend by March 2021 in particular: 

 Movement of £14.974m for the Quantum Technologies Innovation Centre out of 
the LGF and into the UK Shared Prosperity Fund (or equivalent) underwritten by 
the WECA Investment Fund. 

 Swopping £4.6m of LGF funding for the implementation of MetroWest Phase 1 
with EDF funding for Cribbs Patchway MetroBus Extension.

 Maintaining healthy overprogramming, currently standing at £12.1m, recognising 
that there will be some slippage from within the current approved programme.  

5. With these actions in place it is considered the LGF is well placed to deliver full grant 
spend by the end of the LGF period. Even if a time extension was offered by Government 

Page 19

Agenda Item 7



2

not having to rely on this would send a positive message to Government about our ability 
to manage devolved funding. 

6. That is not to say that the programme does not require ongoing attention to ensure 
delivery and spend are achieved. To provide an overview, Table 1 shows the schemes 
within the programme that appear to represent a risk of full spend by March 2021. The 
risk rating is different from that shown in the dashboard in Appendix 3 as this shows the 
rating derived from changes since the last reported position. Further narrative on the 
current position and spend risk for each of these schemes is provided in Appendix 2.

7. It should be noted that this overprogramming will translate into an actual funding 
requirement in 2020/21 if all schemes deliver as currently planned, or in 2021/22 
otherwise, and in reality these projects will represent a commitment against successor 
funding. We are at a point where we are issuing offer letters to contract projects beyond 
the total LGF funds held or expected.   

Table 1: Scheme in LGF Programme Assessed as Presenting Red or Amber/Red Risk 
of Full LGF Spend

Current Forecast

Scheme Promoter Status Completion 
Date

LGF Spend 
in 20/21

(% of Total 
LGF)

Spend 
Confidence 

RAG

Financial 
Impact 
LMH

SGC Sustainable 
Transport Package SGC Approved Mar 21 £1.16m 

(41%) AR L

A4018 Corridor 
Improvements BCC Programme 

Entry Jul 21 £3.103m 
(90%) R H

Bath Quays Bridge B&NES Approved Dec 20 £249k (13%) AR L
Composite Bridge 
Construction SGC Approved Mar 21 £4.14m 

(82%) AR M

Umbrella SGC Approved Mar 21 £2.6m (71%) R M

Advanced 
Construction Skills 
Training Centre

CoB 
College Approved May 21 £4.1m (68%) AR H

STEAM Centre, 
WISE Campus

SGS 
College Approved Mar 21 £4.501m 

(70%) AR H

Digital & Creative 
Innovation Centre*

Bath 
College

Programme 
Entry TBC £9.07m 

(TBC) R H

Note: the table presents the latest reported position in September, or January where information is available. Where recent 
changes have occurred these may require approval at the Joint Committee in January. 

* The Digital and Creative Innovation Centre currently sits outside the programme (and the £12.1 overprogramming) with the 
position of this scheme to be reviewed once planning consent has been secured and design progressed. 

8. For context the total forecast LGF spend in 20/21 for the first seven schemes above is 
some £20m and the overall total across the entire programme for that year is £44m.Of 
this some £32m needs to be delivered to ensure full spend. 

Page 20



3

9. Whilst it appears that we remain well placed to deliver full grant spend, there are still 
inherent risks that specific projects will not be sufficiently progressed by the 31 March 
2021 deadline. It is therefore suggested that the LEP Board continues to receive periodic 
updates on the position. Officers will continue to keep progress against the overall LGF 
programme under review and recommend any relevant changes to the programme and/or 
funding swaps where relevant.

Author: Pete Davis

Appendix 1: Current Forecast LGF Spend Profile
Appendix 2: Schemes Considered to Present Risk of Full LGF Spend
Appendix 3: LGF Q2 19/20 Dashboard 

Page 21



4

Appendix 1

Current Forecast LGF Spend Profile (as reported to January Joint Committee)

MetroWest Phase 1 Development Costs 4,941 7,159 22,697
Sustainable Transport Package 17/18 2,436 - 4,936
Sustainable Transport Package/Pinch Points programme - 450 450
West Wick Rbt and North South Link 4,412 - 11,311
Portway Station - 1,553 1,553
A4018 Corridor Improvements 210 2,885 3,095
Weston-super-Mare Town Centre  Enhancement 1,100 1,433 2,800
Weston-super-Mare: Sustainable Travel Improvements 450 - 450
Keynsham Town Centre Improvements 250 1,250 1,500
South Glos Sustainable Transpoprt Package 1,632 1,163 2,795
Cribbs Patchway MetroBus Extensioin 4,624 - 4,624
FE Skills Capital Schemes
Increasing the capacity of the BEMA Training Centre 62 - 75
South Bristol Construction Centre 1,900 4,100 6,000
Bath College Catering & Hospitality Training Hub 2,503 - 2,503
SGS STEAM Centre 1,900 4,501 6,401
Weston College Animal Management Training Centre 990 - 990
Infrastructure Schemes
Superfast Broadband SGC - 40 1,310
Superfast Broadband CDS 400 - 400
Town Square, Weston-super-Mare 131 - 2,979
Bath Quays Bridge 1,196 249 1,869
Colston Hall Phase 2 Transformation Project 3,000 3,405 8,405
Bath Quays South Phase 1a Enabling Infrastructure 4,377 1,666 10,391
Bath Quays North Initial Development Works - 6,594 6,594
Purchase of Land at Bristol and Bath Science Park 856 - 5,765
Innovation Schemes
FoodWorksSW  Innovation Centre 9,203 - 11,844
Composites Bridge Construction 1,151 3,084 5,050
OPCR -  Sensor Factory, CAV & KWMC 2,847 493 3,340
Umbrella 1,718 1,967 3,685
IAAPS 2,000 2,000 10,000
Bristol VR Lab 75 - 295
Grow-On2 Temporary Building 1,004 - 1,004

55,368 43,992 214,218
202,096

12,122

Subject to approval of reprofiling by the January Joint Committee

Total Funds Available
Change from allocation

19/20 
Forecast

19/20 
Forecast

Total (for 
all years)

Transport Schemes

Page 22



5

Appendix 2
Schemes Considered to Present Risk of Full LGF Spend

South Gloucestershire Sustainable Transport Package

This £3.1m project (£2.8m LGF) involves three elements -  upgrading two sections of cycle 
route in the Filton/Patchway area together with two new signalised crossings on the A38 at 
M5 J16; delivery of a wide range of walking, cycling and safety improvements in close 
proximity to a number of schools across South Gloucestershire; and the replacement of 12 
Community Transport fleet vehicles with new vehicles with Euro 6 standard engines.

From the September report, the M5 J16 and the schools package report completion in March 
2021 (the LGF deadline), although the crossings and fleet replacement elements should be 
completed a year before this. There is £1.16m profiled in 20/21, and whilst slippage could 
present issues, given this project comprises a range of works, all of which are underway it is 
not expected this would have a significant financial impact.

A4018 Corridor Improvements

The A4018 project seeks £3.45m of LGF and consists of four principal elements:  upgrading 
a bus stop to a full bus shelter with real-time passenger information; upgrading a signalised 
crossing and installing a new one; constructing a segregated bi-directional cycle path; and 
installing two variable messaging signs along the A4018.

This project seeks approval of the Full Business Case at the January Joint Committee. The 
form of the scheme has changed considerably since the Outline Business Case in 2017 with 
the current proposal forecasting construction start in July 2020 and completion in July 2021 
with the LGF front ended.  Funding has been made available to support detailed design to 
assist the project in keeping to programme. 

Bath Quays Bridge

This £5m project (£1.87m LGF) will deliver a new pedestrian and cycle crossing linking Bath 
Quays North and South. The project has encountered a number of issues and currently 
reports completion some two and a half years later than forecast at approval, although works 
have more recently been progressing to programme.  

From the September report the project expects to complete the enabling works and 
commence the superstructure assembly in Spring 2020, and complete in December 2020, 
with the bulk of the remaining expenditure to be incurred in the last two quarters of 2019/20. 

Composite Bridge Construction

The £6.5m project (£5.05m LGF) involves a package of sustainable transport measures in 
the Emersons Green area including two new composite footbridges. Completion of the 
individual package elements spans September 2020 to March 2021.

The latest report seeks the reprofiling of £1.05m of LGF from 2019/20 to 20/21 as a result of 
the speed of progress with designs and planning issues, and 2020/21 LGF spend now 
stands at £4.1m. Given this is a package and some elements are better developed and/or 

Page 23



6

will be delivered earlier, the risk around the magnitude of funding which may be left unspent 
is reduced, and there may be opportunities to further back end the match funding.

Urban Multi Wireless Broadband and IoT Testing for Local Authority and Industrial 
Applications (Umbrella) 

This project seeks to create a Centre of Excellence for ‘open’ research and innovation into 
future Industrial Internet of Things (IIOT) linking key academic, research and economic 
locations such as National Composites Centre, Bristol & Bath Science Park, and the UWE 
Bristol Robotics Lab and FutureSpace. The £4.9m project (£3.7m LGF) will deliver an open 
testbed platform which links, through fibre and wireless connectivity, to multiple testbeds and 
platforms across different sites.

The project was approved in June 2019 and completion is expected in March 2021. The 
latest report seeks further reprofiling of £633k of LGF from 19/20 to 20/21 with spend in the 
final year of the LGF now £2.6m. The project is also innovative and has complexity which 
appears to add to the possibility of delay. 

Advanced Construction Skills Training Centre

The £9m project (£6m LGF) will provide a new 2,500m2 centre, built as a linked extension to 
city of Bristol College’s existing South Bristol Skills Academy (SBSA) site at Hengrove. The 
project would expand the College’s existing construction provision to provide a large new 
civil construction training facility. The project has secured planning consent and is fully 
approved, with the preferred contractor in place although the final cost breakdown and fixed 
cost offer will not be confirmed until January.

From the September report, construction start is planned in March 2020 with practical 
completion in May 2021. The bulk of the spend is to be incurred from this point forward with 
£4.1m in 20/21 (up £170k from last reported). The College’s remaining expenditure is 
already back ended leaving no further option for advancing LGF spend for match.  

STEAM Centre, SGS WISE Campus

This £7.39m project (£6.4m LGF) would see the delivery of a new 1,800m2 Science, 
Technology, Engineering, Art and Maths Centre at South Gloucestershire and Stroud 
College’s WISE campus. This would create a hub, bringing Cyber and Digital Media and a 
wide range of A Levels from the A38 Filton site, which would in turn enable the A38 Filton 
campus to accommodate increased provision.

From the September report the project plans to start on site in February 2020, with the build 
complete in February 2021 and fit out by March 2021. LGF spend is now starting to ramp up 
but £4.5m of spend is expected in 20/21 (£690k less than last reported owing to advanced 
spend due to the construction methodology). 

Digital and Creative Innovation Centre

This project sits outside the current funded programme but is included here as it was 
resolved that the funding position would be reviewed once conditions, including securing 
planning consent, were met.

Page 24



P
age 25



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the meeting held on 1 October 2019
	6 Update on Climate Emergency Planning
	7 Local Growth Fund Progress Update
	item 7a - Appendix 3


